
 

 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Licensing Panel 
Councillors Mandy Brar (Chair), Kashmir Singh (Vice-Chair), Clive Baskerville, 
Geoff Hill, Neil Knowles, Wisdom Da Costa, Jack Douglas, Siân Martin, 
Genevieve Gosling, John Story and Mark Wilson 
 
Monday 15 April 2024 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Town Hall - Maidenhead & on RBWM YouTube 
 

 
Agenda 

 
Item Description Page   

Apologies for Absence 
 

 

1 The Panel shall receive any apologies for absence. 
 

- 
  

Declarations of Interest 
 

 

2 The Panel are asked to declare any interests that they may have.  
 

3 - 4 
  

Minutes 
 

 

3 

The Panel are asked to clarify the motion that was agreed under the item 
“Hackney Carriage Livery”. It is the understanding of officers that this motion, 
which agreed to amend the current RBWM hackney carriage livery, was 
intended to apply only to new hackney carriages being licenced by RBWM for 
the first time, and not to existing RBWM hackney carriages, for which the 
existing livery requirements will remain in place. 
  
The Panel are then asked to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 
Tuesday 13 February 2024 as a true and accurate record.  
  
 

5 - 10 
 

 
Minutes of Licensing and Public Space Protection Order Sub 
Committees 
 

 

4 The Panel are asked to note the minutes of the Sub Committee that was held 
on 7 February 2024. 
 

11 - 14 
 

 
RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles - Three-Yearly 
Review 
 

 

5 The Licensing Panel are to note the report and: 
i)               Recommend to Full Council that the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 

Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028 be adopted as RBWM policy 
with effect from 31 January 2025. 

 

15 - 74 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead


 
 

 

By attending this meeting, participants are consenting to the audio & visual 
recording being permitted and acknowledge that this shall remain 
accessible in the public domain permanently. 
 
Please contact Oran Norris-Browne, Oran.Norris-Browne@RBWM.gov.uk, 
with any special requests that you may have when attending this meeting. 
 
Published: Friday 5 April 2024  
 



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

3

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

4



LICENSING PANEL 
 

Tuesday 13 February 2024 
 
Present: Councillors Mandy Brar (Chair), Kashmir Singh (Vice-Chair), 
Clive Baskerville, Neil Knowles, Jack Douglas, Siân Martin, Genevieve Gosling, 
John Story and Mark Wilson 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Simon Werner 
 
Also in attendance virtually: Councillor Gurch Singh 
 
Officers: Oran Norris-Browne, Greg Nelson and Amanda Gregory 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
Minutes 
 
AGREED: That the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 16 October 2023 were a true 
and accurate record.  
 
Minutes of Licensing and Public Space Protection Order Sub Committees 
 
The Licensing Panel noted the minutes of the Licensing and Public Space Protection Order 
Sub-Committees. 
 
Hackney Carriage Livery 
 
Greg Nelson, Trading Standards & Licensing Manager, introduced the first report to the 
Licensing Panel. He said that the report primarily concerned the livery that RBWM hackney 
carriages were required to be painted with. He noted that at the last meeting the Panel had 
also asked for research to be carried out on the availability and cost of electric and hybrid 
hackney carriages and other vehicles, and whether the models available complied with 
requirements for wheelchair accessibility. This information was set out at Appendix B of the 
report. 
  
Greg Nelson then said that as agreed at the last Panel meeting, a public consultation had 
been carried out on the livery that RBWM licenced hackney carriages were required to be 
painted with, whether this livery should be kept as it was or changed in some way. In addition 
to this, whether changes could be tied in with the introduction of hybrid and electric hackney 
carriages, when that change was eventually made in the coming years. The public 
consultation had now been completed, which saw 320 responses, with the full results being 
available in Appendix C of the report. The results showed that there was a high level (89.1%) 
of recognition of the livery, and that a clear majority of respondents, 64.8%, thought that the 
livery should remain as it was. When taking into account the respondents who were not an 
RBWM licenced hackney carriage or private hire driver, the percentage of respondents who 
thought that the livery should remain as it was, increased to 87%. The benefits that 
respondents gave for keeping the livery were very positive and highlighted the ease of 
recognition of the vehicle as a licenced vehicle, the extra safety and confidence that this 

5

Agenda Item 3



brought, and the positive brand marketing that it provided for the borough. He did note that 
there were of course some neutral views and some that were also negative. 
  
Greg Nelson then said that a petition signed by 80 hackney carriage drivers had also been 
received asking that the current RBWM hackney carriage livery be removed. This petition, 
which was Appendix D of the report, set out the drivers’ reasons for this and suggested an 
alternative livery in the form of magnetic signage. He said that officers were in favour of 
maintaining the livery as it was for operational reasons and were very much against the use of 
magnetic signage for the reasons set out in Table 2 of the report. Any changes to the livery 
would lead to a cost in removing the current livery and a cost in changing the colour of the 
hackney carriage, which would have to be burdened by the driver, along with the application of 
any new livery, or the purchasing of magnetic signage. 
  
The Chair then invited both Mr Sabir and Mr Yasin to address the Licensing Panel as 
registered speakers, each separately for 3 minutes.  
  
Councillor Werner then addressed the Panel as the Cabinet Member for Public Protection by 
saying that all taxis needed to be recognisable, safe, and classy. He said that looking at the 
responses to the consultation, it showed that taxis should still have the borough crest on them 
and be recognisable to residents. He appealed to the Panel to remove the purple bonnet but 
bring in a more up-to-date and modern look to the hackney carriages. 
  
Councillor Douglas said that public safety needed to be put first, however the reduction in the 
cost and burden of drivers, whilst also modernising the design should be looked at.  
  
Councillor Gosling asked if stick on colours could be considered as an option for taxi drivers, 
who could then use their car as a regular vehicle, instead for use as a taxi permanently.  
  
Councillor Wilson said that some form of livery was important but said that a change in what 
was currently used should be looked at. He wondered if a phased transition could potentially 
be looked at, so once a new car was obtained then the new livery would then need to be 
obtained.  
  
Councillor Knowles said that the current livery was a dated look and that it also damaged the 
re-sale version of the vehicle too. He wondered if it would be possible to potentially have a 
stick-on sign on both the passenger and driver doors. A contact sticker could be used rather 
than a magnetic sign, which could be taken off too easily.  
  
Councillor Story said that it must be noted that the consultation results showed that the current 
livery should stay. However, he did feel as though it was something that could certainly be 
looked at adjusting. He wished for the Panel to be able to see this final design first though.  
  
Councillor K Singh said that it was important to protect both the public and also the driver’s 
livelihoods, which was a fine balance. He believed that the idea of magnetic signage would not 
be feasible and would be very difficult to police, as outlined within the report. There was also a 
big issue with when a driver wished to use the same vehicle for private-hire and also as a 
hackney carriage, as the livery was permanent and there was no distinguishment for them 
between the two.  
  
Councillor Douglas wished to then defend the responses to the consultation, as despite the 
numbers, it was important to note that it was available to all residents to participate. He also 
then touched on Electric Vehicles (EV) and said that there should not be a difference between 
the two as this would complicate things.  
  
Councillor Story asked Greg Nelson what the thinking was behind potentially having a different 
livery for EV’s and regular hackney carriages. Greg Nelson replied by saying that the idea was 
for a clear distinguishment in order to push the EV movement, however he took on board the 
Panel’s feelings towards confusing residents.  

6



  
Councillor Wilson asked if there was scope for the Panel to propose a recommendation that 
was different to the one that had been put forward in the report. Greg Nelson confirmed that 
there was, as long as it was within reason.  
  
Councillor Martin agreed with that way forward and said that some key factors of safety ought 
to be incorporated and agreed that magnetic signage was not ideal.  
  
Councillor K Singh asked about the grants and if they were from central government. Greg 
Nelson confirmed this and stated that the grant was for £7,000.  
  
Greg Nelson said that the livery requirements were solely for hackney carriage vehicles within 
the borough. In terms of magnetic liveries, officers were very against this due to the practical 
issues that this would cause, in addition to the resources that would be needed to police it. He 
also said that it was very important to keep residents safe and he implored the Panel to not 
adopt magnetic signage as there would be nothing to stop unregistered drivers using these 
and putting residents at risk.   
  
Councillor Brar put forward a slightly amended motion to what had been recommended by 
officers. This recommendation was to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Housing & 
Public Protection, the Cabinet Member for Public Protection, and the Chair of the Licensing 
Panel to amend the current RBWM hackney carriage livery to ease the burden on drivers, 
whilst still ensuring the cars are recognisable, by keeping the crest, creating a more up market 
design and whilst protecting the public. Councillor Martin seconded this motion.  
  
Councillor Wilson then asked if consideration could be made for the optimum mechanism for 
the phasing in of the new agreed hackney carriage livery and sought for it to be added into the 
motion. Both Councillors Brar and Martin agreed to this.  
  
Oran Norris-Browne, Principal Democratic Services Officer, wished to clarify what the 
amended motion was and asked Councillor Wilson to restate his point on the mechanism for 
phasing in the new agreed livery, so that it could be correctly documented. The motion was 
then read in full, prior to a named vote then being taken. 
  

 
AGREED: That the Licensing Panel: 

i)               Noted the information provided on the availability and costs of hackney 
carriage vehicles and, 

ii)             Agreed to delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Housing & Public 
Protection in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Public Protection and 
the Chair of the Licensing Panel to amend the current RBWM hackney 
carriage livery to ease the burden on drivers, whilst still ensuring the cars are 
recognisable, by keeping the crest, creating a more up market design, 
protecting the public and to consider the optimum mechanism for the 
phasing in of the new agreed hackney carriage livery. 

 
 

Hackney Carriage Livery (Motion) 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Kashmir Singh For 
Councillor Clive Baskerville For 
Councillor Neil Knowles For 
Councillor Jack Douglas For 
Councillor Siân Martin For 
Councillor Genevieve Gosling Against 
Councillor John Story Against 
Councillor Mark Wilson For 
Carried 

7



DBS Checks on RBWM Licenced Drivers 
 
Greg Nelson began by reminding the Panel what had been agreed at the last meeting. A 
consultation had since been completed and the full results of this were set out within the 
report. The results showed that a large majority of respondents, 81.9%, said they knew of no 
compelling reasons as to why RBWM should not implement the six-monthly checks. There 
were also no RBWM operational or policy reasons as to why RBWM should not implement 
these six-monthly checks. Greg Nelson then stated the two ways in which these checks could 
be carried out, as stated within the report. He said that making use of the “DBS Update 
Service Status Checks” facility provided by the third-party company was the preferred option 
as it would by far be the most efficient and effective way of implementing the six-monthly DBS 
checks. He said that it was also recommended that this be paid for by the individual drivers, 
with the costs then being read out.  
  
Greg Nelson said that the cost of the “DBS Update Service Status Checks” facility was £6 + 
VAT per driver per year. He said that this would mean that the DBS costs to an individual 
driver would be as follows: 

•                an initial £59 to sign up to the online DBS service via the third-party company. 
•                £13 per year (including the first year) for the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 

Update Service, and  
•                £6 + VAT (£7.20) per year for the “DBS Update Service Status Checks” facility 

provided by the third-party company. 
  
Greg Nelson then said that it was important to note that the £6 + VAT (£7.20) per driver per 
year would be waived by the third-party company for the first year. It would then be recharged 
to RBWM. The intention was to recover this by increasing the hackney carriage and private 
hire drivers’ licence charges from 1 April 2025 to cover the fee. Therefore, in the first year, 
drivers would pay £72 (£59 + £13), and then in all subsequent years they would then pay 
£20.20 (£13 + £7.20), subject to any future inflationary price increases. He said that this would 
be a considerable saving compared with having to provide a DBS (£59) every six months. 
  
Greg Nelson said that all drivers would benefit from the reduction in paperwork and the 
efficiencies that came with the automated system, particularly when renewing their licence. In 
effect, once they had signed up to the online services, there was no more that they would 
have to do in respect of their DBS during the lifetime of their hackney carriage or private hire 
driver licence other than renew and pay for the DBS Update Service annually. He added that it 
would of course take some time for drivers to understand and get used to the new system and 
some leeway would certainly be given for initial and innocent non-compliance. However there 
needed to be consequences for drivers who did not comply after advice and assistance was 
given, so it was proposed that penalty points be introduced for non-compliance, as set out in 
Appendix C of the report. 
  
The Chair then invited Mr Jaffri to address the Licensing Panel as a registered speaker for 3 
minutes.  
  
Councillor Knowles said that his profession was similar to the subject matter, so he had 
knowledge on this. He said that due to GDPR rules, if a third-party did a sweep, it would 
simply say that the DBS was no longer supported. The authority would then need to ensure 
that the individual gets another DBS check. He asked if an addendum could be added to the 
policy further down so that it was a requirement for a driver to submit a new DBS when this 
was the case. He also said that the police used to notify authorities of any changes to a DBS, 
however this was no longer the case and now the authorities would have to carry out checks 
themselves, to see if any changes had been made to a person’s DBS.  
  
Greg Nelson thanked Councillor Knowles for his comments and said that the third-party 
company were fully accredited by the Disclosure & Barring Service up and down the country. 
He then outlined what the process would be when a change would occur with a DBS, by 
saying that officers would look at the change when notified and if necessary, take action 

8



accordingly if it made officers question the driver being a fit and proper person. Councillor 
Knowles replied by saying that the onus legally was on the borough and not the third-party. 
Both were confident on what they had stated, however Greg Nelson said that he would look 
into what Councillor Knowles had said.  
  
Councillor Douglas asked what the significance was for DBS checks every 6 months. Greg 
Nelson said that this was the statutory requirement and that the system in question offered the 
ability to check every 2 weeks. The recommendation was made in order to comply with the 
standards.  
  
Councillor Story strongly recommended that communications be made to residents, to make 
them aware that regular DBS checks were being carried out to ensure that residents were 
being kept safe. He then asked for some clarity on the penalty points process. 
  
Greg Nelson then explained that it was an existing policy that RBWM had in place for many 
years. 3, 6 or 12 points could be given for certain infringements, with some minor ones being 
things like the way they speak to passengers or parking in a disabled bay for example. If 12 
points were accumulated over a 12-month period, then a decision would have to be made as 
to whether the driver was still fit and proper to hold a license. After 12 months, any points 
accumulated would be removed. Moving forward with the recommendation before the Panel, if 
a driver was to not adhere to rules around DBSs, then points would be issued.  
  
Councillor Baskerville asked about the costs to the drivers and how the figures were worked 
out compared to the national average. Greg Nelson said the cost difference was very minimal, 
if not even just a neutral level. The charges set by the third-party company were the same 
nationally and also the time it took the drivers to administer paperwork, would also be 
reduced. The Chair then asked for some clarity on the cost, which Greg Nelson then provided, 
as set out within the report.  
  
Councillor Knowles said that he was supportive of the recommendation as it made things 
easier for both the officer and also the drivers. Past history had shown that DBS certificates 
had needed to be applied for 4 or 5 months before their expiration, in order to ensure that they 
were ready in time. In the long run, it also made it cheaper for the drivers.  
  
Councillor Douglas said that the hackney carriage badge was a symbol of trust and that the 
recommendation that was being looked at, really cemented this.  
  
Councillor Wilson said that it was important to have one singular process for the drivers to 
abide by, to avoid any confusion between private-hire and hackney carriage. 
  
Councillor Knowles proposed the recommendation that had been put forward by officers. This 
was seconded by Councillor K Singh.  
  
A named vote was taken.  
 

  
 

DBS Checks on RBWM Licenced Drivers (Motion) 
Councillor Mandy Brar Abstain 
Councillor Kashmir Singh For 
Councillor Clive Baskerville For 
Councillor Neil Knowles For 
Councillor Jack Douglas For 
Councillor Siân Martin For 
Councillor Genevieve Gosling For 
Councillor John Story For 
Councillor Mark Wilson For 
Carried 

9



AGREED: That the Licensing Panel noted the report and: 
i)               Agreed to amend RBWM policies such that all RBWM licenced hackney 

carriage and private hire drivers enable the Licensing team to check their 
DBS for new information every six months with effect from 01 April 2024 

ii)             That this was achieved as set out in Table 1, below, 
iii)            That the charges for this were paid for by the individual drivers, and 
iv)            That penalty points be introduced for failure to comply with these 

requirements. 
 
RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles - Three-Yearly Review 
 
Greg Nelson introduced the last of the reports to the Panel, which concerned a statutory three 
yearly review of the borough’s policy under the Gambling Act 2005. This was a legal 
requirement of all licensing authorities so was something that had to be done, but as a 
courtesy to the Panel, he wanted to inform them of this happening and to explain the 
background and methods. If necessary, any updated policy would be brought to the next 
Licensing Panel meeting for endorsement before it went to Full Council later in the year for 
approval. 
  
Councillor Story asked for an example of what could potentially be changed. Greg Nelson 
replied by saying that in the past, work had gone into looking at the protection of young 
persons from gambling for example. However, there had been less consideration given to 
vulnerable adults, which colleagues in adult services assisted with adding into the policy. This 
was only 3 years ago, hence why not many changes were envisaged due to him believing that 
the borough had a robust policy in place.  
  
Councillor Knowles wished to propose the recommendation that was listed within the report. 
Councillor K Singh seconded this. 
  
A named vote was taken. 

  
AGREED: That Licensing Panel noted the report and: 

i)               Agreed that a consultation should be carried out to review the current RBWM 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles and, 

ii)             Agreed that the results of that consultation be brought to a future Licensing 
Panel for endorsement before going to Full Council for adoption as RBWM 
policy. 

 
 
The meeting, which began at 6.00 pm, finished at 7.45 pm 
 

Chair.……………………………………. 
 

Date……………………………….......... 
 

RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles - Three-Yearly Review (Motion) 
Councillor Mandy Brar For 
Councillor Kashmir Singh For 
Councillor Clive Baskerville For 
Councillor Neil Knowles For 
Councillor Jack Douglas For 
Councillor Siân Martin For 
Councillor Genevieve Gosling For 
Councillor John Story For 
Councillor Mark Wilson For 
Carried 

10



LICENSING & PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) SUB COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday 7 February 2024 
 
Present: Councillors Mandy Brar (Chair), Geoff Hill and Genevieve Gosling 
 
Officers: Craig Hawkings, Anthony Lenaghan and Laurence Ellis 
 
 
Appointment of Chair 
 
Councillor Hill nominated Councillor Brar to Chair of the Sub-Committee. This was seconded 
by Councillor Gosling. 
  
AGREED: That Councillor Brar be elected Chair of the Sub-Committee. 
 
Apologies for Absence 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
No interests were declared. 
 
Procedures of the Sub Committee 
 
All parties present noted the procedures of the Sub-Committee. 
 
Consideration of an application for a new premises license to be granted under the 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
Craig Hawkings, RBWM Reporting Officer, outlined the report to the Sub-Committee and 
outlined the application by AV Retails Ltd.: a new premises licence to be granted for a 
convenience store at Premier, 6 Harrow Lane, Maidenhead, SL6 7PD. He informed that in line 
with section 18.3A in the Licensing Act 2003, when relevant representations were made 
against an application, a hearing must be held to consider them. 
  
Craig Hawkings stated that the applicant applied for a licence which would include: 

       Supply of alcohol (OFF the premises), Monday to Sunday, 06:00–23:00  
       Hours open to the public, Monday to Sunday, 06:00–23:00 

  
Officers had reviewed the operating schedule by which they included relevant conditions. 
  
As per requirement for the hearing, the application was advertised with officers confirming that 
all advertising requirements were fully complied with. In terms of promoting the licensing 
objectives, the Sub-Committee had to also take into account the National Guidance issued 
under Section 182 of the Licensing Act as well as the 
Council's own Licensing Policy. 
  
Craig Hawkings then reminded all parties what the four licencing objectives which were set out 
in the Licencing Act 2003 were:  

       The prevention of crime and disorder, 
       Public safety, 
       The prevention of public nuisance, 
       The protection of children from harm. 

  
11

Agenda Item 4



The application contained agreed conditions between the applicant and two of the responsible 
authorities consulted on the application as part of the 28-day consultation: Thames Valley 
Police and Trading Standards. 
  
The application received two representations, including a small petition. 
  
While operating hours fell slightly outside of RBWM’s framework hours (opening at 06:00 
rather than 09:00), Craig Hawkings highlighted that the application would have been granted 
as applied for under delegated officer powers if no objections were received. 
  
Councillor Gosling asked for confirmation that the applicant had other properties under their 
ownership and as such would therefore apply their business practice to the premises at 
Harrow Lane (if a licence was granted) in similar fashion to their other properties. Craig 
Hawkings replied that this question would be best answered by the applicant. 
  
A representative presented the case on behalf of the applicant, Mr Kathirvel Jegatharan. She 
highlighted that the comments from the objections were not relevant to the property as well as 
the application not receiving any representations from Thames Valley Police and 
Environmental Health. Addressing some objections to the application, it was mentioned that 
any illegal parking near the premises would be dealt with by a sector of the department. 
Kathirvel Jegatharan’s representative reassured that the store’s operations would not disturb a 
nearby nursery as the premises was located within a single, self-contained building.  
  
Kathirvel Jegatharan’s representative added that the premises would have a strong training 
programme for its staff, including the prevention of selling alcohol to underage persons or 
selling to drunk people. It was mentioned that staff would ask members of the public to avoid 
loitering near the premises. 
  
The representative also highlighted that Kathirvel Jegatharan was already a director of a 
company and was thus experienced in running stores across the country and would therefore 
be able to manage this store. 
  
Councillor Hill asked whether the applicant was comfortable with the conditions in the 
application and was happy to abide by them. Kathirvel Jegatharan’s representative confirmed 
that the conditions in the application would be abided by. 
  
Councillor Gosling repeated her earlier question on the applicant having experience with other 
retail stores, namely training staff and serving alcohol. Kathirvel Jegatharan’s representative 
assured that an alcohol refusal log book as well as an incident log book would be used and 
that a fire risk assessment would be periodically undertaken as part of public safety. In 
addition, there would be a strong training program with the staff receiving refresher training 
every 6 months. 
  
In their closing summary, Kathirvel Jegatharan’s representative believed that AV Retails Ltd. 
would be able to follow all the licensing objectives and the conditions applied by Thames 
Valley Police and the Trading Standards. She added that the premises would serve the 
community. 
  
Craig Hawkings presented to the Sub-Committee the options in regard to the application in 
line with promoting the four licensing objectives as well as the National Guidance and RBWM 
Licensing policy: 

a)    Reject the application;  
b)    Grant the application but modify the activities and/or the hours and/or the conditions of 

the licence;  
c)     Grant the application as applied for. 

  

12



Anthony Lenaghan, Legal Officer, highlighted for the public record that appendix D, which 
contained objections to the application, was part of the agenda pack and the Sub-Committee 
had read through and considered them prior to the hearing. 
  
(The Applicant, the Applicant’s Representative and the Reporting Officer left the room and 
took no further part in the meeting.) 
  
The Sub-Committee then began their deliberations alongside the Legal Officer and the Clerk. 
  
The Chair and Councillor Hill both had no objections to the application with Councillor Gosling 
adding that the applicant was experienced. While considering the objections, the Sub-
Committee saw no issue in allowing the application. 
  
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY: That the premises license for Premier, 6 Harrow Lane, 
Maidenhead, SL6 7PD, be granted as applied for. 
 
 
The meeting, which began at 1.31 pm, finished at 1.54 pm 
 

Chair.……………………………………. 
 

Date……………………………….......... 
 

13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 

Principles – Three-Yearly Review 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part 1 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coe, Cabinet Member for 
Household & Regulatory Services 

Meeting and Date: Licensing Panel 15 April 2024 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services & Amanda Gregory, Assistant 
Director of Housing & Public Protection 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
RBWM is a licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005. Under this Act we are 
required to have a policy setting out how we will exercise our functions under this 
legislation, in RBWM this is called the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles. 
 
The Act requires that, every three years, licensing authorities review and republish 
their policy. This is now due. 
 
A consultation on the existing Statement of Principles has been carried out and an 
updated and revised version produced. This report seeks the endorsement of the 
Licensing Panel of this new version before it goes to Full Council for adoption as the 
RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION 

RECOMMENDATION: That the Licensing Panel notes the report and: 
 

i) Recommends to Full Council that the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028 be adopted as RBWM policy 
with effect from 31 January 2025 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 
The Licensing Panel recommends to Full 
Council that the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028 be 
adopted with effect from 31 January 2025 
This is the recommended option 

RBWM would comply with its 
statutory requirements and provide 
clear guidance to businesses 
operating gambling premises in 
RBWM   

The Licensing Panel does not recommend 
to Full Council that the RBWM Gambling 
Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 
2028 be adopted 

RBWM would not comply with its 
statutory requirements and would 
have no framework under which to 
carry out the licensing of gambling 
activity 

15

Agenda Item 5



  
2.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (GA05) requires that, every three 

years, licensing authorities review their policy which sets out the principles 
that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act. This 
only applies to gambling premises and not to on-line gambling which is 
regulated by the Gambling Commission. 

2.2 This review is now due and a new, revised policy must be ready to come into 
force on 31 January 2025.  

2.3 The current policy, The RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 
2022 - 2025 can be found at https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-
economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences 

2.4  There are two elements of the review process. Firstly, officers assess  whether 
the current policy is up to date in terms of legislation, statutory guidance and 
national policy; secondly, a  consultation with statutory consultees and other 
stakeholders is required to ask if the current policy provides a clear, robust and 
appropriate local policy on gambling premises in RBWM from their point of view, 
and if not, what changes are necessary.  

2.5 There have been no changes to legislation since the policy was last reviewed. 
The last changes to the statutory guidance for local authorities were in April 
2021 and they were taken into account in the last three yearly review. The only 
changes to the guidance since then have been formatting changes. 

2.6 In April 2023 the government produced a white paper called “High stakes: 
gambling reform for the digital age”.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-
the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age#chap5  

2.7 This sets out proposals for reform in six areas across the gambling trade in the 
UK. The area that most relates to local authority gambling regulation is “land-
based gambling” and there are proposals to introduce cumulative impact 
assessments for gambling premises (similar to the approach taken under the 
Licensing Act 2003) when parliamentary time allows, and the government will 
consult on increasing the maximum fees that local authorities can charge for 
premises licences and permits. The white paper has no immediate impact on 
local authorities and therefore does not require any amendments to RBWM 
policy at this time. 

2.8 A consultation on the current RBWM policy has been carried out with statutory 
consultees and other stakeholders as set out in paragraph 2.4. Full details of 
the consultation are in paragraph 8, below. 

2.9 In 2023 RBWM introduced the Windsor & Maidenhead Community Lottery to 
support community projects in the local area. This falls outside of the scope of 
the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles as the Lottery, run on 
behalf of RBWM by a third party company, is certified and overseen by the 
Gambling Commission. However, the Lottery is now referenced in the 
proposed new Statement of Principles to ensure that all gambling activity 
which RBWM is either responsible for regulating, or carries out itself, is 
covered.  

16

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age#chap5
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age#chap5


2.10 The changes that resulted from the consultation are set out in Appendix C. 

2.11 The proposed new RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 
2028 is Appendix D. 

2.12 Members of the Licensing Panel are asked to agree the recommendation set 
out at the start of this report. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 As set out in Table 2  
 
Table 2 : Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

RBWM will 
comply with 
statutory 
requirements 
and provide 
guidance to 
service 
users  

Prior to 
date of 
adoption 
of this 
Policy 

From 
date of 
adoption 
of this 
Policy 

n/a n/a 31/01/2025  

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires that, every three years, 
licensing authorities prepare and publish the principles that they propose to 
apply in exercising their functions under this Act. Failure to do so would mean 
RBWM is failing in its statutory duty. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 As set out in Table 3 
 
Table 3 : Risk Management 

Threat or risk Impact with 
no 
mitigations 
in place or 
if all 
mitigations 
fail  

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with no 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

Mitigations 
currently in 
place  
 
 

Mitigations 
proposed 
 
 

Impact of 
risk 
once all 
mitigations 
in place 
and 
working 

Likelihood 
of risk 
occurring 
with all 
mitigations 
in place. 
 
 

There is a risk 
that RBWM 
fails to comply 
with a statutory 
duty because 

Major 3  
 

Very 
unlikely – 
only a 
small 
chance 

There is a 
GA05 policy 
in place  

The new, 
updated 
GA05 
policy is 
being 

Minor 1  
 

Very 
unlikely – 
only a 
small 
chance 

17



no GA05 
policy is in 
place, which 
could result in 
RBWM not 
being able to 
carry out its 
duties to 
regulate 
gambling 
premises 
within its area  

this will 
occur  
  
  

presented 
to Council 
for 
adoption 
as RBWM 
policy  

this will 
occur  
  
 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A  
 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. There are no implications of this nature.  
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are no implications of this nature.  

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 S.349(3) of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to consult 
with the following on their policy statement or any subsequent revision: 
• in England and Wales, the chief officer of police for the authority’s area; 
• one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 

of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; 
• one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests 

of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s 
functions under the Act 

 
8.2 The following bodies were therefore consulted. They were asked if they 

thought the current policy provided a clear and robust local policy on gambling 
premises in RBWM sufficient to deal with any problems that they may have 
identified, and whether they had any supporting evidence that should be taken 
into account in reviewing this statement of principles; 
• Thames Valley Police  
• RBWM Childrens Services 
• RBWM Adult Services 
• RBWM Environmental Protection 
• RBWM Planning 
• Public Health 
• The Gambling Commission 
• HM Revenue and Customs 
• Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue 
• Gamcare (the leading UK provider of free information, advice and support 

for anyone harmed by gambling) 
• GambleAware (supports problem gamblers)  
• The trade (Betfred and Coral Head Offices) 
• Town Centre Management 
 

18



8.3 Residents were consulted via social media platforms, the RBWM website and 
RBWM Together. 
 

8.4 The organisations who responded were; 
• Thames Valley Police  
• RBWM Childrens Services 
• RBWM Environmental Protection 
• RBWM Planning 
• Public Health 
• GambleAware  
 

8.5 Thames Valley Police and RBWM Childrens Services, Environmental 
Protection and Planning had no comments to make. 
 
Public Health made some specific suggestions to strengthen the wording in 
the policy around the right of all people to live without unnecessary and 
preventable risk to health and safety from gambling products; in connection to 
local risk assessments and the local area profile; in connection to the location 
of premises. How these have been incorporated into the text of the updated 
policy are set out in Appendix C.  
 

8.6 Gamble Aware provided several studies on the effects of gambling generally, 
but also provided some comparative figures to how rates of gambling harm in 
RBWM contrast with national rates. These show that rates in RBWM are 
broadly in line with national figures so is noted for information as Appendix E. 
However, these figures can be monitored when this policy is next reviewed to 
see if there have been any comparative changes which might give cause for 
concern (although these figures include on-line gambling which RBWM has no 
regulatory control over).  
 

8.7 There were 8 consultation responses from individuals, these are set out in the 
report in Appendix B. 
 

8.8 Seven respondents were not satisfied with the current policy. Of these, four 
wanted restrictions of the number of gambling premises in the Borough, but 
licensing authorities have no powers to limit the number of gambling premises 
in their area or to prohibit them altogether.  
 

8.9 Two respondents wanted more done to protect children and one said that the 
policy could go further to protect people from gambling addiction. There has 
been some strengthening in relation to protecting children based on the input 
of Public Health, as set out in paragraph 8.6, above, as well as the existing 
requirements of paragraph 2.13.4. of the policy. There are detailed provisions 
to protect vulnerable people, including problem gamblers, in paragraph 2.13.6 
of the policy    

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION  

9.1 The full implementation stages are set out in table 2. 
 
 
 

19



Table 2: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
15/04/2024 Licensing Panel endorses the RBWM Gambling Act 

2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028 and 
recommends it to Council 

25/09/2024 RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 
2025 – 2028 goes to Council for adoption as RBWM 
policy 

31 January 2025  New policy comes into force 
 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 There are five appendices: 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment 
• Appendix B – Responses to the Public Consultation 
• Appendix C – Changes Made to Statement of Principles 
• Appendix D – RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 – 

2028 
• Appendix E – Gamble Aware RBWM Figures    

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 The RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 can be 
found at https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-
and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences  

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officer (or deputy)   
Elizabeth Griffiths Executive Director of Resources 

& S151 Officer 
26/03/2024  

Elaine Browne Deputy Director of Law & 
Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

26/03/2024 03/04/2024 

Deputies:    
Julian McGowan Deputy Director of Finance & 

Deputy S151 Officer  
03/04/2024 04/04/2024 

Jane Cryer 
 

Principal Lawyer & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer  

  

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

N/A    
Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 

decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

N/A Data Protection Officer   
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 

or agree an EQiA is not required 
  

20

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences


Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement Officer 26/03/2024 27/03/2024 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 25/03/2024 02/04/2024 
Assistant Directors 
(where relevant)  

   

Amanda Gregory Assistant Director of Housing 
and Public Protection 

25/03/2024 28/03/2024 

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Household 
& Regulatory Services (Cllr Coe) 

26/03/2024 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Licensing Panel 
decision 
 

No  
 

No 

 
Report Author: Greg Nelson, Trading Standards & Licensing Manager 
                         07970 446 526 

 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix A - Equality Impact 
Assessment 

For support in completing this EQIA, please consult the EQIA Guidance 
Document or contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

 

1. Background Information 
 

Title of policy/strategy/plan: 

 

RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles – 
Three-Yearly Review 

Service area: 

 

Housing & Public Protection - Trading Standards & 
Licensing 

Directorate: 

 

Place 

 

Provide a brief explanation of the proposal: 

• What are its intended outcomes? 
• Who will deliver it? 
• Is it a new proposal or a change to an existing one? 

RBWM is a licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005. Under this Act we are required 
to have a policy setting out how we will exercise our functions under this legislation, in 
RBWM this is called the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles. 
 
The Act requires that, every three years, licensing authorities review and republish their 
policy. This is now due. 
 
The review is being delivered by the Trading Standards & Licensing Manager and will result 
in changes to an existing policy 
 

 

2. Relevance Check 
Is this proposal likely to directly impact people, communities or RBWM employees?  

• If No, please explain why not, including how you’ve considered equality issues.  
• Will this proposal need a EQIA at a later stage? (for example, for a forthcoming 

action plan) 
Yes 

 

If ‘No’, proceed to ‘Sign off’. If unsure, please contact equality@rbwm.gov.uk 

23

mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk
mailto:equality@rbwm.gov.uk


3. Evidence Gathering and Stakeholder Engagement 
Who will be affected by this proposal?  

For example, users of a particular service, residents of a geographical area, staff 

Everyone who participates in legal gambling in gambling premises (not on-line gambling) 
will be affected by this Statement of Principles, as will the businesses running the 
premises 

 

Among those affected by the proposal, are protected characteristics (age, sex, 
disability, race, religion, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership) disproportionately represented?  

For example, compared to the general population do a higher proportion have disabilities?  

Harm caused by gambling is disproportionately higher amongst Black, Asian and other 
ethnic minority individuals. RBWM’s population is predominantly white but Black, Asian, 
mixed and other ethnic minority groups make up approximately 14% of the Borough’s 
population overall, and approximately 17% in Maidenhead. 

This is addressed in the proposed RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 
2025 – 2028 with a requirement that licensee and licence application risk assessments 
specifically consider this matter and set out how they intend to deal with it, in the areas 
identified 

  

What engagement/consultation has been undertaken or planned?  

• How has/will equality considerations be taken into account?   
• Where known, what were the outcomes of this engagement? 

 

s.349(3) of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to consult with the 
following on their policy statement or any subsequent revision: 

• in England and Wales, the chief officer of police for the authority’s area; 
• one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area; 
• one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Act 

 

The following bodies were therefore consulted. They were asked if they thought the 
current policy provided a clear and robust local policy on gambling premises in RBWM 
sufficient to deal with any problems that they may have identified, and whether they had 
any supporting evidence that should be taken into account in reviewing this statement of 
principles; 

• Thames Valley Police  
• RBWM Childrens Services 
• RBWM Adult Services 
• RBWM Environmental Protection 
• RBWM Planning 
• Public Health 
• The Gambling Commission 
• HM Revenue and Customs 
• Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue 
• Gamcare (leading UK provider of free information, advice and support for 

anyone harmed by gambling) 

24



• GambleAware (supports problem gamblers)  
• The trade (Betfred and Coral Head Offices) 
• Town Centre Management 

 

Residents were consulted via social media platforms, the RBWM website and RBWM 
Together. 

No evidence was provided by any of those who responded which specifically covered race 
or ethnicity. However there were responses which covered all vulnerable persons and 
these have been included in the updated Statement of Principles 

   

What sources of data and evidence have been used in this assessment?  

Please consult the Equalities Evidence Grid for relevant data. Examples of other possible 
sources of information are in the Guidance document. 

 

Reliance was put on the expertise and data held by the consultees 

Gamble Aware provided some comparative figures to how rates of gambling harm in 
RBWM contrast with national rates. These show that rates in RBWM are broadly in line 
with national figures so is noted for information at this time, however, these figures can be 
monitored when this policy is next reviewed to see if there have been any comparative 
changes which might give cause for concern (although these figures include on-line 
gambling which RBWM has no regulatory control over).   

 

4. Equality Analysis 
Please detail, using supporting evidence: 

• How the protected characteristics below might influence the needs and experiences 
of individuals, in relation to this proposal. 

• How these characteristics might affect the impact of this proposal. 

Tick positive/negative impact as appropriate. If there is no impact, or a neutral impact, state 
‘Not Applicable’ 

More information on each protected characteristic is provided in the Guidance document. 

 Details and supporting evidence Potential 
positive impact 

Potential 
negative 
impact 

Age 

 

Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling is a specific objective under 
the Gambling Act and is specifically 
addressed in the Statement of Principles 

RBWM, as a licensing authority will 
therefore consider whether specific 
measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing 
objective. Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances, 
machines, segregation of areas etc 

Local Risk Assessments are required of 
licensees and licence aplicants which 

 Yes 

25



provide detail on how the applicant is 
going to mitigate against underage 
gambling 

Applications for new premises licences 
will come under particular scrutiny if 
located within walking distance of schools, 
colleges and community venues where 
young people meet 

Disability 

 

Not Applicable   

Sex 

 

Not Applicable   

Race, ethnicity and 
religion 

 

Harm caused by gambling is 
disproportionately higher amongst Black, 
Asian and other ethnic minority 
individuals. RBWM’s population is 
predominantly white but Black, Asian, 
mixed and other ethnic minority groups 
make up approximately 14% of the 
Borough’s population overall, and 
approximately 17% in Maidenhead. 

This is addressed in the proposed RBWM 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles 2025 – 2028 with a requirement 
that licensee and licence application risk 
assessments specifically consider this 
matter and set out how they intend to deal 
with it, in the areas identified 

 Yes 

Sexual orientation and 
gender reassignment 

 

Not Applicable   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Not Applicable   

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

Not Applicable   

Armed forces 
community 

Not Applicable   

Socio-economic 
considerations e.g. low 
income, poverty 

Harm caused by gambling is 
disproportionately higher in areas of 
deprivation. RBWM is generally a 
prosperous area but there are pockets of 
relative deprivation, parts of Dedworth fall 
within the third most deprived decile in 
England and parts of Maidenhead fall 
within the fourth most deprived decile. 

This is addressed in the proposed RBWM 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 
Principles 2025 – 2028 with a requirement 

 Yes 

26



that licensee and licence application risk 
assessments specifically consider this 
matter and set out how they intend to deal 
with it, in the areas identified 

Children in care/Care 
leavers 

Not Applicable   

 

5. Impact Assessment and Monitoring  
If you have not identified any disproportionate impacts and the questions below are not 
applicable, leave them blank and proceed to Sign Off. 

What measures have been taken to ensure that groups with protected characteristics 
are able to benefit from this change, or are not disadvantaged by it?  

For example, adjustments needed to accommodate the needs of a particular group 

See details in 4. Equality Analysis, above 

Where a potential negative impact cannot be avoided, what measures have been put in 
place to mitigate or minimise this? 

• For planned future actions, provide the name of the responsible individual and the 
target date for implementation. 

See details in 4. Equality Analysis, above 

 

How will the equality impacts identified here be monitored and reviewed in the future? 

See guidance document for examples of appropriate stages to review an EQIA. 

The Statement of Principles is required to be reviewed every three years, or sooner if that is 
felt necessary 

 

6. Sign Off 
Completed by: Greg Nelson 

 

Date: 25/03/2024 

Approved by: 

 

Date: 

 

If this version of the EQIA has been reviewed and/or updated: 

Reviewed by: 

 

Date: 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Gambling Consultation

SURVEY RESPONSE REPORT
15 December 2020 - 24 March 2024

PROJECT NAME:
Gambling Consultation

29



SURVEY QUESTIONS

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 1 of 6 30



Q1  Are you satisfied that the current policy is fit for purpose?

Yes No
Question options

2

4

6

8

1

7

Optional question (8 response(s), 0 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 2 of 6 31



Screen Name Redacted
2/28/2024 06:10 PM

Gambling is still very addictive and has a harmful effect on individuals
and families in our community. The current policy could go further to
protect people from gambling addiction.

Screen Name Redacted
3/04/2024 01:29 PM

1.7.2. The licensing objectives are: • Preventing gambling from being
a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder
or being used to support crime • Ensuring that gambling is conducted
in a fair and open way • Protecting children and other vulnerable
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling Measures for
prevention needs to be more detailed - initiatives with TVP etc. Fair
and open way. You are licencing non online gambling. What
measures are you taking to make this promise a reality? Protecting
children. See above.

Screen Name Redacted
3/12/2024 02:03 PM

Arcades and shops or pubs with gambling machines are fine in
experienced adult contexts but their appeal to younger people is well
reported and age restrictions should apply in all instances as their
appeal, just like online gambling and gaming can lead to serious
problems. I understand the minimum age for a betting shop is 18,
ditto for an arcade with ABC and B3A lottery types. But a child aged
14 can enter a pub with an adult, not be allowed at the bar but readily
play a gambling machine. This could be tightened up and notices by
the machines prohibiting use by under 18's Personally I don't think 18
is old enough, but the law won't change that, Im sure.

Screen Name Redacted
3/13/2024 08:44 PM

There needs to be a limit to the total number of such shops that can
open up

Screen Name Redacted
3/15/2024 02:18 PM

There should be tighter restrictions on number of gambling
establishments; and better enforcement of tighter safe gambling
rules.

Screen Name Redacted
3/15/2024 10:37 PM

Should not allow multiple gambling shops on high st - look at slough
withing 500 yards there are seven gambling outlets. Also if they exist
their opening hours should be severely restricted

Screen Name Redacted
3/17/2024 07:37 AM

There should be no gambling or betting premises in the Borough. It
causes addition and many people lose everything they have including

Q2  If not, why not, and how should it be amended?

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 3 of 6 32



their lives. I therefore believe the local authorities have an obligation
not to encourage opening of premises and granting licenses.

Screen Name Redacted
3/04/2024 01:29 PM

Why is it so early? Why not take the extra time to do the job properly?

Screen Name Redacted
3/12/2024 02:03 PM

On no account should credit cards be accepted (ie using money that
is not readily available) in an effort to avoid debt build up.

Screen Name Redacted
3/15/2024 10:37 PM

Look at the example of slough high street avoid at all costs

Screen Name Redacted
3/17/2024 07:37 AM

As per previous comments

Optional question (7 response(s), 1 skipped)
Question type: Essay Question

Q3  Do you have any other comments, experiences or information which would assist us in
updating the policy?

Optional question (4 response(s), 4 skipped)
Question type: Essay Question

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 4 of 6 33



Q4  What is your gender?

Q5  How old are you?

Female Male Prefer not to answer Non-binary Prefer to self-describe
Question options

1

2

3

4

3 3

2

35-44 45-54 55-64 Prefer not to answer Under 18 18-24 25-34 65 and over
Question options

1

2

3

4

5

1 1

4

2

Mandatory Question (8 response(s))
Question type: Checkbox Question

Optional question (8 response(s), 0 skipped)
Question type: Checkbox Question

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 5 of 6 34



Q6  What is your ethnic group?

Q7  Do you have a long-term physical or mental illness, impairment or disability?

Asian or Asian British White Other ethnic group Prefer not to answer

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African Mixed or Multiple

Question options

1

2

3

4

2

3

1

2

No Prefer not to answer Yes
Question options

2

4

6

8

6

2

Mandatory Question (8 response(s))
Question type: Checkbox Question

Mandatory Question (8 response(s))
Question type: Checkbox Question

Gambling Consultation : Survey Report for 15 December 2020 to 24 March 2024

Page 6 of 6 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 
 Changes Made to the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of 

Principles 
 
Paragraph No Change Made  
 
1.2.1   RBWM population figures updated 
 
1.2.2   Premises figures updated 
 
1.4.2   Reference to the coronavirus pandemic amended 
 
1.5.2/1.5.4  Statements added to the Equalities section 
 
1.6   List of consultees updated 
 
1.12.2   Windsor & Maidenhead Community Lottery referenced 
 
2.7.3   Addition to the Local Risk Assessment 
 
2.8.4    Addition to the Local Area Profile 
 
2.10.3/ 2.10.4 Addition to Location  
 
ANNEX A  Officer designation updated (Assistant Director Housing and  

Public Protection) 
 
Paragraph numbering amended as required 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
CONTENTS 

Section                Page 
 
1. General           3 
1.1 Introduction         3 
1.2 The Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead      3  
1.3 General Principles          3  
1.4 Declaration.          4  
1.5 Equalities          4 
1.6 Consultation          5  
1.7 The Licensing Objectives        5  
1.8 Responsible Authorities       5  
1.9 Interested Parties        6  
1.10 Exchange of Information       7 
1.11 Enforcement         7 
1.12 Licensing Authority Functions      8 
 
2. Premises Licence         9 
2.1 The Premises Licence         9  
2.2 Meaning of “Premises”        9 
2.3 Application          11  
2.4 Plans of the Premises         12  
2.5 Notice of the Application        12  
2.6 Representation          13  
2.7 Local Risk Assessment        13  
2.8 Local Area Profile         14  
2.9 Premises “ready for gambling”      15 
2.10 Location         15 
2.11 Planning         16 
2.12 Duplication with other regulatory regimes     16 
2.13 Licensing objectives        17 
2.14 Conditions         19 
2.15 Door Supervisors        20 
2.16 Adult Gaming Centres       20 
2.17 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres     21 
2.18 Betting machines        21 
2.19 Bingo premises        22 
2.20 Betting premises        22 
2.21 Tracks          22 

The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead
Gambling Act 2005

Statement of Principles
2025 – 2028

39



2 
 

2.22 Gaming machines        23 
2.23 Applications and Plans       23 
2.24 Travelling Fairs        24 
2.25 Provisional Statements       24 
2.26 Reviews         25 
 
3. Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notice     26 
3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 26 
3.2 Statement of Principles        27 
3.3 (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits    28 
3.4 Permit: 3 or More Machines       28 
3.5 Prize Gaming Permits        29 
3.6 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits     30 
3.7 Temporary Use Notices       31 
3.8 Occasional Use Notices       31 
 
4. Further Information        32  
ANNEX A - TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40



3 
 

1 General  
 
1.1 Introduction  
1.1.1. The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead (RBWM) is a licensing authority 
for the purposes of s2 of the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
1.1.2. Under s349 of the Act licensing authorities are required to publish a statement 
of the principles which they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  
 
1.1.3. The statement must be published at least every three years and this statement 
will come into effect on 31 January 2025 and continue until 30 January 2028. The 
statement may also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-
consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published before any revision is 
given effect. 
 
1.2. The Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead  
1.2.1. The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead is a unitary authority to the 
west of London covering 76 square miles. It is home to Windsor Castle, Eton 
College, LEGOLAND Windsor and Windsor and Ascot Racecourses. Its population is 
approximately 153 500.  
 
1.2.2. The current number of licences issued in the Borough to types of gambling 
premises is 75. The breakdown is as follows:  
Type of Licence/Permit     Total number per category  
Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licence      1 
Betting Premises Licence (track)       2 
Betting Premises Licence (No track)     15 
Club Machine Permit        5   
Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit   4  
Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit    10  
Notification of Gaming Machines      46 
Total         83 
 
1.3 General Principles 
1.3.1. This “Statement of Principles” sets out the principles that RBWM, as the 
licensing authority, will apply when making decisions upon applications or 
notifications made under the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
1.3.2. In exercising its functions under the Act this authority shall aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as the authority think it; 

• in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued under s24 of the Act, 
• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission under s25, 
• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives, and 
• in accordance with this statement of principles 

41



4 
 

1.3.3.In determining whether to grant a premises licence a licensing authority may 
not have regard to the expected demand for the facilities which it is proposed to 
provide. 
 
1.3.4. It should be noted that, as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, "moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject 
applications for premises licences". 
 
1.3.5. Nothing in this Statement of Principles will;  

• undermine the rights of any person to apply under the Gambling Act 2005 for 
a variety of permissions and have the application considered on its individual 
merits; or  

• override the right of any person to make a representation on any application 
or seek a review of a licence or permit where they are permitted to do so 
under the Gambling Act 2005  

 
1.3.6. Each application will be treated on its own merit. 
 
1.4. Declaration 
1.4.1. In preparing this Statement of Principles this licensing authority has:  

• had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, 
• adhered to regulations issued by the Secretary of State under s349(4) of the 

Act,  
• had regard to guidance issued to local authorities by the Gambling 

Commission s25(2) of the Act,  
• had regard to the responses from those consulted on this statement of 

principles, and 
• recognised the need to be consistent with the licensing objectives where 

applicable 
 
1.4.2. During times of pandemics, the licensing authority will implement emergency 
legislation as it effects gambling premises. 
 
1.5 Equalities 
1.5.1 The licensing authority recognises its duty to promote equality under the terms 
of the Race Relations Act 1976 (Amendment) Regulations 2003 and the Equality Act 
2010. 
 
1.5.2.  All members of society have the right to live without unnecessary and 
preventable risk to health and safety from gambling products and gambling industry 
practices, including the protection of children and young people and their rights to 
live and grow in safe and healthy environments. 
 
1.5.3. Any person who gambles should be safe from preventable harm regardless of 
their ability to protect themselves. 
 

42



5 
 

1.5.4. Gambling harms already reflect social and health inequalities; with potential to 
affect anyone but with greater harm where there is increasing vulnerability in terms 
of mental health, income deprivation, age, gender, race, and ethnicity. 
 
1.6 Consultation  
1.6.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulations made under the Gambling Act 
2005 to list the persons whom the authority has consulted in preparing their 
statement of principles. The following were consulted in preparing the RBWM 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 – 2028; 

• Thames Valley Police  
• RBWM Childrens Services 
• RBWM Adult Services 
• RBWM Environmental Protection 
• RBWM Planning 
• Public Health 
• The Gambling Commission 
• HM Revenue and Customs 
• Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue 
• Gamcare (the leading UK provider of free information, advice and support for 

anyone harmed by gambling) 
• GambleAware (supports problem gamblers)  
• The trade (Betfred and Coral Head Offices) 
• Town Centre Management 

 
1.7 The Licensing Objectives  
1.7.1. In exercising their functions under the Gambling Act 2005 licensing authorities 
must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in s1 of the Act.  
 
1.7.2. The licensing objectives are: 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 

exploited by gambling 
 
1.7.3. It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling”. 
 
1.7.4. More detail on the licensing authority’s approach to the licensing objectives is 
set out in section 2.13, below. 
 
1.8. Responsible Authorities 
1.8.1. The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Sector 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, 

43



6 
 

a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children 
from harm. The principles are;  

• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
licensing authority’s area and;  

• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group 

 
1.8.2. In accordance with the guidance in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities this authority designates the RBWM Child Safeguarding 
Executive Steering Group, the statutory overseer of children's safeguarding 
arrangements for RBWM, as competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm in relation to gambling and the Gambling Act 2005.  
1.8.3. Under s157 of the Act, the following are responsible authorities in relation to 
premises:  

• The licensing authority  
• The Gambling Commission  
• Thames Valley Police  
• Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service  
• The Planning Authority (RBWM)  
• Environmental Protection (RBWM)  
• RBWM Child Safeguarding Executive Steering Group 
• HM Revenue and Customs  
• Public Health  

 
1.9 Interested parties 
1.9.1. Interested parties can make representations about licence applications or 
apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in Section 158 of 
the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:  

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the 
licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is 
made, the person:  
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities,  
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or  
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)” 

 
1.9.2. The licensing authority is required by regulations made under the Gambling 
Act 2005 to state the principles it will apply in exercising its powers under the 
Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an interested party. The 
principles are;  

1.9.2.1. This authority will apply the considerations provided in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities at paragraphs 8.9 to 8.17. It 
will also consider the Gambling Commission's Guidance that "has business 
interests" should be given the widest possible interpretation and include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices.  

44



7 
 

1.9.2.2. Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected 
such as councillors and MP’s. No specific evidence of being asked to 
represent an interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP 
represents the ward likely to be affected. Likewise, parish councils likely to be 
affected will be considered to be interested parties. Other than these however, 
this authority will generally require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. 
an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close 
to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or 
has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities. A 
letter from one of these persons, requesting the representation is sufficient. 

 
1.9.3. If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views 
then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing Panel 
dealing with the licence application. If there are any doubts then please contact the 
licensing team, Town Hall, St Ives Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF or by email: 
licensing@rbwm.gov.uk  
 
1.10 Exchange of Information 
1.10.1. Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles 
to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under s29 and 30 of the Act 
with respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling 
Commission, and the functions under s350 of the Act with the respect to the 
exchange of information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the 
Act.  
 
1.10.2. The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information and ensure that GDPR and data protection provisions will not be 
contravened. The licensing authority will also have regard to any guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued 
by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
1.10.3. Full details of those persons making representations will be made available 
to applicants in the event of a public hearing being held and will form part of a public 
document that will be published on the RBWM website. Anyone making 
representations or applying for a review of a premises licence will be informed that 
their full details will be disclosed. 
 
1.11 Enforcement 
1.11.1. The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the premises licences 
and other permissions which it authorises.  
 
1.11.2. The Gambling Commission is the enforcement body for operating and 
personal licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or 

45

mailto:licensing@rbwm.gov.uk


8 
 

repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by the licensing authority but should be 
notified to the Gambling Commission.  
 
1.11.3. Licensing authorities are required by regulations made under the Gambling 
Act 2005 to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the 
functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers under s346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the 
offences specified.  
 
1.11.4. This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and the Regulators Code 2014 and 
will endeavour to be:  

• Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies 
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;  

• Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 
public scrutiny;  

• Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;  
• Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and 

user friendly; and  
• Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem and minimise any side 

effects.  
 
1.11.5 The licensing authority will seek to work actively with the Gambling 
Commission and the Thames Valley Police in enforcing licensing legislation. 
 
1.11.6. Where the licensing authority seeks to bring a prosecution, it will have regard 
to the RBWM Enforcement & Prosecution Policy which can be found at 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/strategies-and-
policies/enforcement-and-prosecution-policy  
 
1.12 Licensing Authority Functions 
1.12.1. Licensing authorities are required under the Act to:  

• be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences  

• issue Provisional Statements 
• regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to undertake 

certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club 
Machine Permits  

• issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs  
• grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 
• receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 

2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines  
• issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed to 

sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines  

46

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/strategies-and-policies/enforcement-and-prosecution-policy
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/strategies-and-policies/enforcement-and-prosecution-policy


9 
 

• register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds  
• issue Prize Gaming Permits  
• receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices  
• receive Occasional Use Notices  
• provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 

issued (see section above on ‘information exchange)  
• maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 

functions 
 
1.12.2. In 2023 RBWM introduced the Windsor & Maidenhead Community Lottery to 
support community projects in the local area. This falls outside of the scope of this 
RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles as the Lottery, run on behalf of 
RBWM by a third party, is regulated and certified by the Gambling Commission. 
However, the Lottery  
 
1.12.3. It should be noted that licensing authorities are not involved in licensing 
remote (ie on-line) gambling. This is regulated by the Gambling Commission via 
operating licences. 
 
2. Premises Licences 
 
2.1. The Premises Licence  
2.1.1. A premises licence can authorise the provision of facilities at the following:  

• Casino premises  
• Bingo premises  
• Betting premises including on course track betting  
• Adult gaming centres (AGC) premises (for category B3, B4, C and D 

machines)  
• Family entertainment centres (FEC) premises (for category C and D 

machines)  
 
2.1.2. Premises licences will be subjected to the requirements set out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which are detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State. The 
Council can exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is believed to 
be appropriate. 
 
2.2 Meaning of “Premises”  
2.2.1. In the Act, "premises" is defined as including "any place". s152 therefore 
prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. But a single building 
could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different 
parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably 
regarded as being different premises. This approach has been taken to allow large, 
multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain 
discrete premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. However, the 
Council will pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single 

47



10 
 

building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access 
between premises are observed.  
 
2.2.2. The Gambling Commission states in paragraphs 7.6 and 7.7 of its Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities; 

“In most cases the expectation is that a single building / plot will be the subject 
of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street. But that does not 
mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for 
the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably. Whether 
different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will depend on the circumstances. The location of the premises will 
clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely 
to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing authority. 
The Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are artificially 
or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can 
properly be regarded as different premises. If a premises is located within a 
wider venue, a licensing authority should request a plan of the venue on 
which the premises should be identified as a separate unit.” 

 
2.2.3. This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that: licensing authorities should take 
particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and 
those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. 
In particular they should be aware of the following:  

• The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 
gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to gambling. 
Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not invited to 
participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe gambling where 
they are prohibited from participating.  

• Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation 
of different premises is not compromised and people do not “drift” into a 
gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to access the 
premises without going through another licensed premises or premises with a 
permit.  

• Customers should be able to participate in the activity names on the premises 
licence. 

 
2.2.4. The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority is aware 
of, which may include:  

• Is a separate registration for business rates in place for the premises?  
• Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or 

someone else?  
• Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?  

48



11 
 

• Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?  
 
2.2.5. This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.  
 
2.2.6. This authority will take account of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance in 
Part 7 which details the relevant access provisions for each premises type. These 
include: 

a. Adult Gaming Centre  
• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 

licensed gambling premises  
b. Betting Shops  

• Access must be from a street (as per para 7.21 Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises licence  

• No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 
retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an 
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind unless that shop is 
itself a licensed betting premises  

c. Tracks  
• No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:  

o a casino  
o an adult gaming centre  

d. Bingo Premises  
• No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:  

o a casino  
o an adult gaming centre  
o a betting premises, other than a track  

e. Family Entertainment Centre  
• No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:  

o an adult gaming centre  
o a betting premises, other than a track 

 
2.2.7 Casinos have been omitted from this list of premises types. This is because 
there are no casinos operating within the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead and new casinos are restricted under the Gambling Act 2005 to 
specified areas, which does not include this authority area. 
 
2.2.8. Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
contains further guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into 
account in its decision making 
 
2.3 Application 
2.3.1. An application for premises licence can only be made by a person (which 
includes companies or partnership):  

• who are aged 18 or over and  
• who have the right to occupy the premises and  

49



12 
 

• who have an operating licence which allows them to carry out the proposed 
activity  
or  

• who have applied for an operating licence to allow them to carry out the 
proposed activity. It is important noting that the premises licence cannot be 
determined until an operation licence has been issued.  

 
2.3.2. The exception to this is an applicant for a premises licence to allow a track to 
be used for betting, as these applicants are not required to hold an operating licence 
if they are merely providing space for other people betting (and where other persons 
hold a valid betting operating licence). 
 
2.4 Plans of the Premises 
2.4.1. All new premises licence and variation applications must include a plan of the 
premises. The plan will become part of the premises licence and the authority 
expects the plans to be available for inspection by an authorised officers at the 
premises.  
 
2.4.2. Under the Gambling Act 2005 (Premises Licences and Provisional 
Statements) Regulation 2007 (as amended) the plan of the premises must show:  

• The extent of the boundary or perimeter of the premises  
• Where the premises include, or consist of, one or more buildings, the location 

of any external or internal walls of each such buildings  
• Where the premises form a part of the building, the location of any external or 

internal walls of the building which are included in the premises  
• Where the premises are a vessel or a part of a vessel, the location of any part 

of the sides of the vessel, and of any internal walls of the vessel, which are 
included in the premises  

• The location of each point of entry to and exit from the premises, including in 
each case a description of the place from which entry is made or to which the 
exit leads 

 
2.4.3. If there are major changes to the layout of a premises a variation must be 
made and new plans submitted. If there are minor changes to the layout the licence 
holder should contact the licensing authority for advice.  
 
2.4.4. It is important to note that there are a number of requirements for plans and 
these requirements depend on the type of licence or permit being applied for. 
Guidance on this is available at the Gambling Act 2005 section of the RBWM 
website.  
 
2.5 Notice of the Application 
2.5.1. Under regulations made by the Secretary of State applicants are required to 
publish a notice of their application and to notify responsible authorities and other 
persons about the application. These also apply, with one or two modifications, in 

50



13 
 

relation to applications for provisional statements and some ancillary applications 
that can be made in relation to a premises licence.  
 
2.5.2. Notice must be given in three ways:  

• a notice must be placed outside the premises for 28 days consecutively in a 
place where it can be read conveniently  

• a notice must be placed in a newspaper of highest circulation within the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead on at least one occasion within 10 
working days of the application being served  

• notice must be given to all responsible authorities, which includes the 
Gambling Commission, within 7 days of the application being served  

 
2.5.3. An officer will visit the premises to verify the notice. If the notice is not placed 
or the public notice is not published within the framework days then the licensing 
authority will reject the application. 
 
2.6 Representation 
2.6.1. Licensing authorities are obliged to consider representations from two 
categories of person, referred to in the Gambling Act 2005 as “responsible 
authorities” and “interested parties”. Representation from other parties are 
inadmissible.  
 
2.6.2. The licensing authority will consider the relevance of any representation 
received. It must be related to one or more of the Licensing Objectives or to issues 
raised under the Licensing Authority’s Statement of Principles or the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance or Code of Practice.  
 
2.6.3. Also, the licensing authority will need to consider if representations are 
“frivolous” or “vexatious”.  
 
2.6.4. Anyone that wishes to make a representation to an application must do so in 
writing to The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, Licensing Team, Town 
Hall, St Ives Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF or by email: licensing@rbwm.gov.uk. 
 
2.7. Local Risk Assessment 
2.7.1. It is a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice (LCCP) that licensees assess the local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and 
have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks.  
 
2.7.2. In undertaking their risk assessments, they must take into account relevant 
matters identified in this statement of principles, in particular those set out in the 
Local Area Profile, below. 
 

51

mailto:licensing@rbwm.gov.uk


14 
 

2.7.3. The risk assessment should provide detail on how the applicant is going to 
mitigate against underage gambling, and take into account the key at risks groups or 
behaviours which are; 

• young people   
• unemployed and constrained economic circumstance  
• area deprivation  
• homelessness   
• mental ill health   
• substance abuse/misuse  
• personality traits/cognitive distortions  
• people experiencing gambling harms who are seeking treatment 

 
2.7.4. Licensees must undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence. Their risk assessment must also be updated:  

• when applying for a variation of a premises licence  
• to take account of significant changes in local circumstances  
• when there are significant changes at a licensed premises that may affect 

their mitigation of local risks 
 
2.7.5. This risk assessment must be shared with RBWM’s Licensing team when 
applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed 
premises, or otherwise at the request of RBWM’s Licensing team. 
 
2.8 Local Area Profile 
2.8.1. Licensees and licence applicants need to be aware of some local factors when 
completing their risk assessments as set out in section 2.7, above. This is because 
of the effects of gambling in areas of deprivation. where there is a sizeable 
population of Black, Asian and other ethnic minority individuals, and premises 
housing vulnerable persons.  
 
2.8.2. Harm caused by gambling is disproportionately higher in areas of deprivation. 
RBWM is generally a prosperous area but there are pockets of relative deprivation, 
parts of Dedworth fall within the third most deprived decile in England and parts of 
Maidenhead fall within the fourth most deprived decile. 
 
2.8.3. Harm caused by gambling is disproportionately higher amongst Black, Asian 
and other ethnic minority individuals. RBWM’s population is predominantly white but 
Black, Asian, mixed and other ethnic minority groups make up approximately 14% of 
the Borough’s population overall, and approximately 17% in Maidenhead. 
 
2.8.4 There is a hostel in Old Windsor (SL4 2RL) housing people who have been 
discharged from prisons and secure estates. Such persons may be particularly 
vulnerable to gambling and to becoming problem gamblers. 
 

52



15 
 

2.8.5. These factors will be a consideration for local gambling regulation in RBWM in 
the context of s153 of the Act and so the licensing authority will expect to see them 
reflected in licensee and licence application risk assessments. 
 
2.9 Premises “ready for gambling” 
2.9.1. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that a 
licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises 
that the licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for 
gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or 
alterations required before the premises are brought into use.  
 
2.9.2. If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a 
provisional statement should be made instead.  
 
2.9.3. In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises this authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process;  

• first, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling  
• second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place.  

 
2.9.4. Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such 
a licence.  
 
2.9.5. More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be 
granted can be found at paragraphs 7.58 - 7.65 of the Guidance. 
 
2.10 Location 
2.10.1. This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered 
with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the 
licensing objectives are relevant to its decision-making.  
 
2.10.2. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities, this 
authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and 
disorder.  
 
2.10.3. To this end, applications for new premises licences will come under particular 
scrutiny if located;  

• within walking distance of schools, colleges and community venues where 
young people meet 

• where there is a treatment centre, hostel or community venue which hosts 
meetings for gambling addiction 

53



16 
 

• in locations where there are already multiple gambling premises 
 
2.10.4. It should be noted that this does not preclude any application being made 
and each application will be decided on its merits, but the onus will be on the 
applicant to demonstrate how the protection of children and vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling have been fully addressed. 
 
2.11 Planning 
2.11.1. In the Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities it states in 
paragraph 7.58;  

“In determining applications, the licensing authority should not take into 
consideration matters that are not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives. One example would be the likelihood of the applicant obtaining 
planning permission or building regulations approval for their proposal. 
Licensing authorities should bear in mind that a premises licence, once it 
comes into effect, authorises premises to be used for gambling. Accordingly, 
a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to 
premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to 
be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale 
of building or alterations required before the premises are brought into use. 
Equally, licences should only be issued where they are expected to be used 
for the gambling activity named on the licence. This is why the Act allows a 
potential operator to apply for a provisional statement if construction of the 
premises is not yet complete, or they need alteration, or he does not yet have 
a right to occupy them”  

 
2.11.2. This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as per the above 
guidance. In addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the Gambling 
Guidance paragraph 7.65;  

“When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings have 
to comply with the necessary planning or building consents. Nor should fire or 
health and safety risks be taken into account. Those matters should be dealt 
with under relevant planning control, building and other regulations, and must 
not form part of the consideration for the premises licence. S.210 of the Act 
prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal 
by the applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a 
premises licence application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises 
licence does not prejudice or prevent any action that may be appropriate 
under the law relating to planning or building.” 

 
2.12 Duplication with other regulatory regimes 
2.12.1. This licensing authority seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory / 
regulatory systems where possible, including planning. This authority will not 
consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning permission or 
building regulations approval, in its consideration of it. It will though, listen to, and 

54



17 
 

consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.  
 
2.12.2. When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or buildings consents. Fire or health and safety risks will not be 
taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning control, 
buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the consideration for the 
premises licence. 
 
2.13 Licensing objectives 
2.13.1. Premises licences granted must be consistent with the licensing objectives. 
With regard to these objectives, this licensing authority has considered the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and some comments are made 
below.  
 
2.13.2. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime  

• this licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime. The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective. 

• thus, where an area has known high levels of organised crime this authority 
will consider carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located 
there and whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door 
supervisors. This licensing authority is aware of the distinction between 
disorder and nuisance and will consider factors (for example whether police 
assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who 
could see it) so as to make that distinction 

 
2.13.3. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states that it 
generally does not expect licensing authorities to be concerned with ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating 
and personal licences. For local authorities with tracks: There is, however, more of a 
role with regard to tracks which is explained in more detail in the 'Tracks' section, 
section 2.21, below. 
 
2.13.4. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling 
This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission's Guidance that this 
objective means preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as 
restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are, 
particularly attractive to children). The licensing authority will therefore consider, as 
suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance, whether specific measures are 

55



18 
 

required at particular premises, with regard to this licensing objective. Appropriate 
measures may include supervision of entrances, machines, segregation of areas etc.  
 
2.13.5. This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of 
Practice as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises. 
 
 
2.13.6 Vulnerable Persons 
With regards to the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling 
Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will be for regulatory 
purposes” to assume that this group includes:  

• people who gamble more than they want to  
• people who gamble beyond their means   
• people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about 

gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs, and 
• people with a mental illness or with a learning difficulty.  

 
2.13.7. This licensing authority will consider this licensing objective on a case by 
case basis but recognises that there is evidence which clearly highlights the issue of 
mental health and the link with problem gambling.  
 
2.13.8. The licensing authority will also consider as vulnerable any person who is  
being coerced or exploited to gamble by others. 
 
2.13.9. The licensing authority will expect that licensees and applicants will have 
policies and procedures in place to protect vulnerable persons. These should 
include; 

• regular training for staff, using a programme that is regularly reviewed and 
updated to take into account the latest data and information, to enable them to 
identify persons who may be vulnerable, and, where appropriate, to take 
action to protect such vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling or from being coerced or exploited to gamble by others.  

• making information readily available to their customers on how to gamble 
responsibly and how to access information about, and help in respect of, 
problem gambling. The information should cover: 

o any measures provided by the licensee to help individuals monitor or 
control their gambling, such as restricting the duration of a gambling 
session or the amount of money they can spend 

o timers or other forms of reminders or ‘reality checks’ where available 
o self-exclusion options 
o information about the availability of further help or advice. 

• directing this information to all customers whether or not licensees also make 
available material which is directed specifically at customers who may be 
‘problem gamblers’. 

• making this information available in all areas where gambling facilities are 
provided and adjacent to cash machines. Information must be displayed 
prominently using methods appropriate to the size and layout of the premises. 

56



19 
 

These methods may include the use of posters, the provision of information 
on gambling products, or the use of screens or other facilities in the gambling 
premises.  

• information must also be available in a form that may be taken away and may 
also be made available through the use of links to be accessed online or 
using smart technology. Licensees must take all reasonable steps to ensure 
that this information is also readily accessible in locations which enable the 
customer to obtain it discreetly 

2.13.10. Authorised officers from the licensing authority may seek evidence as to the 
effectiveness of policies and procedures put in place to protect vulnerable persons 
 
2.14 Conditions 
2.14.1. Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:  

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility;  

• directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;  
• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and  
• reasonable in all other respects.  

 
2.14.2. Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will consider 
utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, 
appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are specific comments made in 
this regard under some of the licence types below. This licensing authority will also 
expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to ways in which the 
licensing objectives can be met effectively.  
 
2.14.3. This licensing authority will also consider specific measures which may be 
required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such 
measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from 
non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming machines 
in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the licensing objectives. 
These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission's Guidance 
 
2.14.4. This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted:  

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated 
from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a designated entrance;  

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;  
• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;  
• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder; and  
• at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.  
 

57



20 
 

2.14.5. These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where 
multiple premises licences are applicable.  
2.14.6. This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track. As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will 
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the need to ensure that 
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from 
gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter. 
 
2.14.7. It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot 
attach to premises licences which are:  

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition;  

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation;  

• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated; and  

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes. 
 
2.15 Door Supervisors  
2.15.1. The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may attract disorder or be 
subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example by children and young 
persons or vulnerable people) then it may require that the entrances to the premises 
are controlled by a door supervisor and is entitled to impose a premises licence to 
this effect.  
 
2.15.2. The Gambling Commission advises in Part 33 of its Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities that where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is 
appropriate for particular cases the supervisor will be required to be Security Industry 
Authority (SIA) licenced unless the statutory requirements for the premises in 
question require otherwise. 
 
2.16 Adult Gaming Centres 
2.16.1. This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, 
for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises.  
 
2.16.2. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as (this list is not mandatory nor exhaustive, it is merely indicative of 
example measures);  

• proof of age schemes  
• CCTV  
• supervision of entrances / machine areas  

58



21 
 

• physical separation of areas  
• location of entry  
• notices / signage  
• specific opening hours  
• self-exclusion schemes  
• provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare.  
 
2.17 (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 
2.17.1. This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only 
gaming machine areas.  
 
2.17.2. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:  

• CCTV  
• supervision of entrances / machine areas  
• physical separation of areas  
• location of entry 
• notices / signage  
• specific opening hours  
• self-exclusion schemes  
• provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare  
• measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises  
 
2.17.3. This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.  
 
2.17.4. This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operating 
licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines 
should be delineated. This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any 
mandatory or default conditions on these premises licences, when they have been 
published 
 
2.18 Betting machines 
2.18.1. This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, 
take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available 
for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) 
or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of 
betting machines an operator wants to offer 

59



22 
 

2.19 Bingo premises  
2.19.1. This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
paragraph 18.5 states;  

“Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in 
any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may 
choose to vary their licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that 
premises, and then apply for a new premises licence, or multiple new 
premises licences, with the aim of creating separate premises in that area. 
Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single building or 
site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing authorities 
need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new 
premises.” 

 
2.19.2. This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.5 regarding the 
unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into two 
adjacent premises might be permitted, and in particular that it is not permissible to 
locate eight category B3 gaming machines in one of the resulting premises, as the 
gaming machine entitlement for that premises would be exceeded.  
 
2.19.3. This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
paragraph 18.7 states; 

“Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they 
are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines 
are made available for use these must be separated from areas where 
children and young people are allowed. Social Responsibility (SR) code 
3.2.5(3) states that ‘licensees must ensure that their policies and procedures 
take account of the structure and layout of their gambling premises’ in order to 
prevent underage gambling.” 

 
2.20 Betting premises  
2.20.1. Betting machines - This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling 
Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the premises, the number of 
counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff 
to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence 
for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. 
 
2.21 Tracks  
2.21.1. This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the 
track. As per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, this licensing authority will 
especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) and 
the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.  
 

60



23 
 

2.21.2. This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult 
only gaming facilities and that arrangements will be put in place to ensure as far as is 
possible that vulnerable adults do access adult only gaming facilities. It is noted that 
children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for 
betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but 
that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than 
category D machines) are provided.  
 
2.21.3. This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:  

• proof of age schemes  
• CCTV  
• supervision of entrances / machine areas  
• physical separation of areas  
• location of entry  
• notices/signage  
• specific opening hours  
• self-exclusion schemes  
• provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 

Gamcare 
 
2.21.4. This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.  
 
2.22 Gaming machines 
2.22.1. Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to 
use the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D 
machines) should be located in areas from which children are excluded. 
 
2.23 Applications and Plans  
2.23.1. The Gambling Act (s151) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises 
with their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the premises 
are fit for gambling. The plan will also be used for the licensing authority to plan 
future premises inspection activity. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, 
paragraph 20.43). 
 
2.23.2. Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale but should be drawn to 
scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by 
regulations. (See Guidance to Licensing Authorities, para 20.44). 
 
2.23.3. It is important to note that a plan has a number of requirements and these 
requirements depend on the type of licence or permit application. Guidance is 
available in the Gambling Act 2005 section of the RBWM website. 
 

61



24 
 

2.24 Travelling Fairs 
2.24.1. This licensing authority is responsible for deciding whether, where category D 
machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available 
for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling 
amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met. 
 
2.24.2. The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair. 
 
2.24.3. It is noted that the 27 days statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair applies on a per calendar year basis and not in any 12-month period, and that it 
applies to the  piece of land on which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is 
the same or different travelling fairs occupying the land. This licensing authority will 
work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses our 
boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded. (See Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities, paragraphs 30.1- 30.6). 
 
2.25 Provisional Statements 
2.25.1. Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. 
There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement.  
 
2.25.2. S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the 
licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she: 

• expects to be constructed 
• expects to be altered or 
• expects to be acquired a right to occupy 

 
2.25.3. The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a premises licence application other than for tracks. The applicant is 
obliged to give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises 
licence. Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations 
and there are rights of appeal.  
 
2.25.4. In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except 
in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the premises in 
respect of which their provisional application is made.  
 
2.25.5. The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence 
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The licensing authority will 
be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations about premises licence applications that 

62



25 
 

follow the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless: 

• they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional  
• statement stage, or 
• they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.  

 
2.25.6. In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on 
terms different to  
those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters: 

• which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement 
stage;  

• which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or 

• where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with 
the applicant before making a decision 

 
2.26 Reviews 
2.26.1. Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to decide 
whether the review is to be carried out. This will be on the basis of whether the 
request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below: 

• in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling  
• Commission 
• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 
• in accordance with this Statement of Principles. 

 
2.26.2. The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the 
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will certainly 
not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether it is 
substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review. 
 
2.26.3. The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises 
licence, or a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason which it 
thinks is appropriate. 
 
2.26.4. Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing 
authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and interested 
parties during a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the application was 
received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of the application within 7 
days of receipt.  
 

63



26 
 

2.26.5. The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after 
the 28 day period for making representations has passed.  
 
2.26.6. The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority 
should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the options open 
to the licensing authority are:- 

• add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing authority; 
• exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State (e.g. opening 

hours) or remove or amend such an exclusion; 
• suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months; and 
• revoke the premises licence. 

 
2.26.7. In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in s153 of the Act, as 
well as any relevant representations. 
 
2.26.8. In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises 
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for 
gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying for licences in a 
speculative manner without intending to use them. 
 
2.26.9. Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon 
as possible, notify its decision to: 

• the licence holder 
• the applicant for review (if any) 
• the Gambling Commission 
• any person who made representations 
• the chief officer of police or chief constable; and 
• Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs 

 
3. Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice 
 
3.1. Unlicenced Family Entertainment Centre (uFEC) gaming machine permits  
3.1.1. Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit. It should be 
noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used 
for making gaming machines available for use (s238 of the Act). 
 
3.1.2. The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of 
an applicant for a uFEC permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering 
applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall 
have regard to any relevant codes of practice issued by the Commission under s24 
of the Act. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities also 
states:  

64



27 
 

“In its statement of policy, a licensing authority may include a statement of 
principles that it proposes to apply when exercising its functions in considering 
applications for permits. In particular it may want to set out the matters that it 
will take into account in determining the suitability of the applicant. Given that 
the premises is likely to appeal particularly to children and young persons, 
licensing authorities may wish to give weight to matters relating to protection 
of children from being harmed or exploited by gambling and to ensure that 
staff supervision adequately reflects the level of risk to this group. Licensing 
authorities are also encouraged to also specify in their statement of policy that 
a plan for the uFEC must be submitted." (See Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, paragraph 24.8) 

 
3.1.3. The Guidance states in paragraph 24.9;  

“An application for a permit may be granted only if the licensing authority is 
satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the chief 
officer of police has been consulted on the application.”  

 
3.1.4. The Guidance also states in paragraph 24.9; 

“The licensing authority may also consider asking applicants to demonstrate;  
• a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 

that is permissible in unlicensed FECs 
• that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 

Schedule 7 of the Act); and 
• that employees are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 

stakes and prizes.” 
 
3.1.5. It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this 
type of permit. 
 
3.2 Statement of Principles  
3.2.1. This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children and vulnerable adults from harm.  
 
3.2.2. With respect to children, harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such 
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they may 
include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school 
children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with 
unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on/around the premises.  
 
3.2.3. With respect to vulnerable adults, this licensing authority will expect policies 
and procedures to include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards to how 
to identify persons who may be vulnerable, and where appropriate, to take action to 
protect such vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling or from 
being coerced or exploited to gamble by others. 

65



28 
 

3.2.4. This licensing authority will also expect, as per Gambling Commission 
Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant 
has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); a scaled 
plan of the premises (See Guidance notes relating to arrangements for Premises 
under the Act – plan requirement for uFECs), original copy of Public Liability 
Insurance documentation and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of 
the maximum stakes and prizes. 
 
3.3 (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits - (Schedule 13 
paragraph 4(1))  
Automatic entitlement: 2 machines 
3.3.1. There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises to automatically have 2 gaming machines of 
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.  
 
3.3.2. The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of 
any particular premises if: 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the  
• licensing objectives; 
• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of Section 

282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the 
licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of 
practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation 
of the machine has been complied with);  

• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
• an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises. 

 
3.4 Permit: 3 or More Machines 
3.4.1. If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued 
under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think 
relevant.” 
  
3.4.2. This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case 
by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines. Measures 
which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include Staff training 
and supervision of the machines. Notices and signage may also be helpful. 
 
3.4.3. As regards the protection of vulnerable adults this licensing authority will 
expect policies and procedures to include appropriate measures/training for staff as 
regards to how to identify persons using the machines who may be vulnerable, and 

66



29 
 

where appropriate, to take action to protect such vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 
 
3.4.4. Information should be readily available to customers on how to gamble 
responsibly and how to access information about, and help in respect of, problem 
gambling. Licensees and applicants may wish to consider providing the contact 
details of GamCare on the machines. 
 
3.4.5. It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would most likely 
need to be applied for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 
 
3.4.6. It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the 
application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 
 
3.4.7. It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code 
of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
the machine. 
 
3.5 Prize Gaming Permits  
3.5.1. The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under 
this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority 
proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  
 
3.5.2. This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which is that 
the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer 
and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:  

• that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;  

• that the gaming offered is within the law 
• Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm. 

 
3.5.3. In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 
does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance. (Gambling Act 2005, Schedule 14 
paragraph 8(3)). 
 
3.5.4. It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which 
the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot attach 
conditions. The conditions in the Act are: 

• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with; 

• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 

67



30 
 

and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in  
• regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 

and 
• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other  
• gambling. 

 
3.6 Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits  
3.6.1. Members Clubs (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply for a Club Gaming 
Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit. The Club Gaming Permit will enable the 
premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal 
chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations. A Club 
Gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D).  
 
3.6.2. Paragraph 25.4 of the Gambling Commission Guidance states; 

" The Act states that members’ clubs must have at least 25 members and be 
established and conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes other than gaming, 
unless the gaming is restricted to that of a prescribed kind (currently bridge 
and whist). Members’ clubs must be permanent in nature but there is no need 
for a club to have an alcohol licence."  

 
3.6.3. The Commission Guidance also notes in paragraph 25.38 that "licensing 
authorities may only refuse an application on the grounds that:  

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to 
receive the type of permit for which it has applied  
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons  
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 
the applicant while providing gaming facilities;  
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or  
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 

 
3.6.4. There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises 
which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (Schedule 12 
paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
states: "Under the fast track procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be 
made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon which an authority can 
refuse a permit are reduced." and "The grounds on which an application under the 
process may be refused are: 

(a) the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
by regulation under s.266 of the Act; 

68



31 
 

(b) in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or 
(c) a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 
last ten years has been cancelled." 

3.6.5. There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming 
machines. 
 
3.7 Temporary Use Notices 
3.7.1. Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a 
Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would include 
hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. 
 
3.7.2. The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino operating 
licence.  
 
3.7.3. The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this Statement 
the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use 
Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to 
permit the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is 
intended to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker tournaments. 
 
3.7.4. There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. The 
meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling 
Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities. As with "premises", the definition of 
"a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each 
notice that is given. In the Act "premises" is defined as including "any place".  
 
3.7.5. In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of premises", 
the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 
 
3.7.6. This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one 
set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities. 
 
3.8 Occasional Use Notices 
3.8.1. The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
 

69



32 
 

4. Further Information  
 

ANNEX A - TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 
 

Matter to be Dealt 
With 

Full Council LPSPO Sub- 
Committee 

Licensing Officers 

Three yearly 
review and 
adoption of 
Statement of 
Principles 
 

All cases   

Policy not to 
permit casinos 
 

All cases (if new 
casinos were 
permitted in 
RBWM, which, by 
regulation, is not 
currently the case)  

  

Fee setting – when 
appropriate 

 If delegated by Full 
Council 
 

 

Application for a 
premises licence 

 Where 
representations 
have been 
received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
have been 
received or where 
they have been 
withdrawn  

Application for a 
variation of a 
premises licence 

 Where 
representations 
have been 
received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
have been 
received or where 
they have been 
withdrawn 

Application for a 
transfer of a 
licence  

 Where 
representations 
have been 
received from the 
Gambling 
Commission  

Where no 
representations 
have been 
received from the 
Gambling 
Commission 

Application for a 
provisional 
statement 

 Where 
representations 
have been 
received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
have been 
received or where 
they have been 
withdrawn 

Review of a 
premises licence 
 

 All cases  

70



33 
 

Application for a 
club gaming / club 
machine permit 

 Where 
representations 
have been 
received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
have been 
received or where 
they have been 
withdrawn 

Cancellation of a 
club gaming / club 
machine permit 

 All cases  

Applications for 
licenced premises 
gaming machine 
permits  

 Over 2 machines Up to 2 machines 

Applications for 
other permits 

  All cases 

Cancellation of 
licenced premises 
gaming machine 
permit 

  All cases 

Consideration of 
temporary use 
notice 

  All cases 

Decision to give a 
counter notice to a 
temporary use 
notice 

 All cases  

Consideration of 
an occasional use 
notice 

  All cases 

Prosecution of 
offences under the 
Gambling Act 
2005 

  Trading Standards 
& Licensing 
Manager in 
conjunction with 
RBWM Legal 

The appointment 
of authorised 
persons in 
accordance with 
s305 of the 
Gambling Act 
2005 

  Assistant Director,  
Housing and 
Public Protection  

 
 
 
 
 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

73



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	4 Minutes of Licensing and Public Space Protection Order Sub Committees
	5 RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles - Three-Yearly Review
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 (GA05) requires that, every three years, licensing authorities review their policy which sets out the principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act. This only applies to gambling premises and not to on-line gambling which is regulated by the Gambling Commission.
	2.2	This review is now due and a new, revised policy must be ready to come into force on 31 January 2025.
	2.3	The current policy, The RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 can be found at https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences
	2.4	There are two elements of the review process. Firstly, officers assess  whether the current policy is up to date in terms of legislation, statutory guidance and national policy; secondly, a  consultation with statutory consultees and other stakeholders is required to ask if the current policy provides a clear, robust and appropriate local policy on gambling premises in RBWM from their point of view, and if not, what changes are necessary.
	2.5	There have been no changes to legislation since the policy was last reviewed. The last changes to the statutory guidance for local authorities were in April 2021 and they were taken into account in the last three yearly review. The only changes to the guidance since then have been formatting changes.
	2.6	In April 2023 the government produced a white paper called “High stakes: gambling reform for the digital age”.
	https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age/high-stakes-gambling-reform-for-the-digital-age#chap5
	2.7	This sets out proposals for reform in six areas across the gambling trade in the UK. The area that most relates to local authority gambling regulation is “land-based gambling” and there are proposals to introduce cumulative impact assessments for gambling premises (similar to the approach taken under the Licensing Act 2003) when parliamentary time allows, and the government will consult on increasing the maximum fees that local authorities can charge for premises licences and permits. The white paper has no immediate impact on local authorities and therefore does not require any amendments to RBWM policy at this time.
	2.8	A consultation on the current RBWM policy has been carried out with statutory consultees and other stakeholders as set out in paragraph 2.4. Full details of the consultation are in paragraph 8, below.
	2.9	In 2023 RBWM introduced the Windsor & Maidenhead Community Lottery to support community projects in the local area. This falls outside of the scope of the RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles as the Lottery, run on behalf of RBWM by a third party company, is certified and overseen by the Gambling Commission. However, the Lottery is now referenced in the proposed new Statement of Principles to ensure that all gambling activity which RBWM is either responsible for regulating, or carries out itself, is covered.
	2.10	The changes that resulted from the consultation are set out in Appendix C.
	2.11	The proposed new RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028 is Appendix D.
	2.12	Members of the Licensing Panel are asked to agree the recommendation set out at the start of this report.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	As set out in Table 2
	Table 2 : Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires that, every three years, licensing authorities prepare and publish the principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this Act. Failure to do so would mean RBWM is failing in its statutory duty.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	As set out in Table 3
	Table 3 : Risk Management

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. There are no implications of this nature.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are no implications of this nature.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	S.349(3) of the Gambling Act 2005 requires licensing authorities to consult with the following on their policy statement or any subsequent revision:
		in England and Wales, the chief officer of police for the authority’s area;
		one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area;
		one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the Act
	8.2	The following bodies were therefore consulted. They were asked if they thought the current policy provided a clear and robust local policy on gambling premises in RBWM sufficient to deal with any problems that they may have identified, and whether they had any supporting evidence that should be taken into account in reviewing this statement of principles;
	8.3	Residents were consulted via social media platforms, the RBWM website and RBWM Together.
	8.4	The organisations who responded were;
	8.5	Thames Valley Police and RBWM Childrens Services, Environmental Protection and Planning had no comments to make.
	Public Health made some specific suggestions to strengthen the wording in the policy around the right of all people to live without unnecessary and preventable risk to health and safety from gambling products; in connection to local risk assessments and the local area profile; in connection to the location of premises. How these have been incorporated into the text of the updated policy are set out in Appendix C.
	8.6	Gamble Aware provided several studies on the effects of gambling generally, but also provided some comparative figures to how rates of gambling harm in RBWM contrast with national rates. These show that rates in RBWM are broadly in line with national figures so is noted for information as Appendix E. However, these figures can be monitored when this policy is next reviewed to see if there have been any comparative changes which might give cause for concern (although these figures include on-line gambling which RBWM has no regulatory control over).
	8.7	There were 8 consultation responses from individuals, these are set out in the report in Appendix B.
	8.8	Seven respondents were not satisfied with the current policy. Of these, four wanted restrictions of the number of gambling premises in the Borough, but licensing authorities have no powers to limit the number of gambling premises in their area or to prohibit them altogether.
	8.9	Two respondents wanted more done to protect children and one said that the policy could go further to protect people from gambling addiction. There has been some strengthening in relation to protecting children based on the input of Public Health, as set out in paragraph 8.6, above, as well as the existing requirements of paragraph 2.13.4. of the policy. There are detailed provisions to protect vulnerable people, including problem gamblers, in paragraph 2.13.6 of the policy

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	The full implementation stages are set out in table 2.
	Table 2: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	There are five appendices:
		Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment
		Appendix B – Responses to the Public Consultation
		Appendix C – Changes Made to Statement of Principles
		Appendix D – RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 – 2028
		Appendix E – Gamble Aware RBWM Figures

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	The RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025 can be found at https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/business-and-economy/licensing-and-regulation/gambling-act-2005-licences

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A - EQIA
	Appendix B - Responses to Public Consultation Report
	Appendix C - Changes Made to Statement of Principles
	Appendix D - RBWM Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2025 - 2028
	Appendix E - Be Gamble Aware - RBWM Figures




